No. S262081

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SIRY INVESTMENT, L.P.

Plaintiff & Appellant,

vs.

SAEED FARKHONDEHPOUR, et al.

Defendants & Appellants.

and Consolidated Cases.

On Appeal from Judgment/Orders of Los Angeles Superior Court No. BC372362, Hon. Stephanie Bowick & Hon. Edward B. Moreton After Published Decision by Court of Appeal, Second District, Div. Two No. B277750; c/w B279009 & B285904

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Robert Cooper (SBN 209641) *
Wilson, Elser, Moskowitz,
Edelman & Dicker, LLP
555 S. Flower Street, 29th Floor
Los Angeles, CA 90071
Tel: (213) 443-5100

Fax: (213) 443-5101 robert.cooper@wilsonelser.com

ISSUES PRESENTED

- ► California's civil theft statute allows "any person" to recover statutory treble damages and attorneys' fees for specified violations; e.g., receiving or concealing stolen property. (Pen. Code, § 496, subd. (c).) The Opinion below holds these civil remedies are limited to the theft of stolen goods. It "respectfully part[s] ways with *Switzer v. Wood* (2019) 35 Cal.App.5th 116 (*Switzer*), which holds to the contrary." (Typed opn. 3.) The issue presented is whether these remedies apply to the theft of any form of property; e.g., theft of partnership funds.
- ► Whether, or under what circumstances/grounds, a defendant may file a motion for new trial to challenge a default judgment while remaining in default?

INTRODUCTION

The legislature has used particularly broad language in the Penal Code provisions governing theft-related offenses. In 1972, the legislature added civil remedies to Penal Code section 496, allowing anyone injured by specified theft-related offenses to recover civil damages. Refusing to enforce these critical remedies based on the nature of the stolen property – partnership funds embezzled by a general partner and its alter egos who defrauded their limited partner – the Court of Appeal held this statute should be limited to the theft of goods (e.g., merchandise or cargo). The Court of Appeal rationalized that the legislative

history behind the 1972 amendment shows that the California Trucking Association was heavily involved in seeking to eliminate markets for stolen goods.

While it is true that one of the proposed bills would have expressly limited recovery of civil remedies to public carriers as the only eligible group of plaintiffs, the legislature affirmatively rejected such a limitation by enacting a bill allowing "any person" injured by a statutory violation to seek such remedies. This dichotomy between the proposed bill and the enacted bill, in and of itself, requires reversal.

The rationale applied below – by focusing on the identity of a particular sponsor of legislation – is inherently flawed because it requires courts to limit statutory laws (e.g., consumer protection statutes) based on the perceived agenda of a particular lobbyist. Under the Court of Appeal's rationale, if an industry group or an organization (e.g., AARP) sponsors a bill creating a cause of action for its own constituents (by expressly limiting recovery to senior citizens), the law would be limited to senior citizens, even if the ultimate bill, as enacted, allows "any person" to bring an action. That cannot be the law.

Because the Court of Appeal's decision is also based on the false premise that money does not qualify as personal property within the meaning of the theft statutes, the decision should be reversed for this additional reason.

As for the procedural issue presented here, the threshold question is whether a defendant, after the entry of default judgment, may seek a new trial without moving to set aside the default or the default judgment first. Assuming a defaulted defendant has standing to seek a new trial on certain grounds (depending on which line of authority this Court ultimately adopts), the Court should also resolve the conflict regarding the scope of appellate review when a default judgment is appealed. Because the Court of Appeal employed a symmetrical approach (by seeking to match the grounds for new trial with the grounds allowed on appeal), resolution of these issues will provide significant clarity for lower courts and litigants.

Regardless of how this Court resolves the preceding issues, the Court should reinstate the original \$16 million judgment entered in this case. The trial court's elimination of nearly \$10 million of that judgment, based on a defective order granting a new trial, requires reinstatement.

Having perceived three categories of damages awarded in the default judgment to be "excessive as a matter of law," the trial court conditionally granted defendants' motion for new trial by invoking Code of Civil Procedure, section 657, subsection five ("excessive" damages). As discussed below, however, this particular statutory ground applies only when the court weighs the factual evidence and concludes the judgment is excessive. Because the court perceived the damages to be excessive (albeit

erroneously) as a matter of law, this ground does not apply, rendering the new-trial order defective.

To be sure, a defective order can be saved on appeal on an alternative ground. This rule, however, applies only if the party that moved for a new trial affirmatively invokes an alternative ground and presents supporting authorities and citations to the record on appeal. Because defendants never mentioned ground seven (a preserved "error in law") in their appellate briefs, the Court of Appeal erred by undertaking defendants' duty in salvaging the new trial order based on ground seven. Therefore, the original judgment should be reinstated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Parties

Plaintiff Siry Investment, L.P., is a limited partner in a partnership called 241 E. 5th Street Partnership. (1 SCT-B: 2, ¶1; 14-37 [partnership agreement].) ¹ The other three limited

¹ Consistent with the prior briefing citation format, this petition refers to the record in these consolidated appeals as follows:

⁽¹⁾ Appeal A: a 14-volume incorporated-by-reference Clerk's Transcript ("CT") and 8-volume incorporated-by-reference Supplemental Clerk's Transcript ("SCT") filed in B260560, an appeal from a monetary sanctions award affirmed in 2017; and

⁽²⁾ Appeal B: a 13-volume CT, 28-volume SCT, and 1-volume Second Supplemental Clerk's Transcript ("SSCT") filed in B277750 (the main appeals challenging the default judgment and the post-judgment reduction of damages).

partners are: The 1993 Farkhondehpour Family Trust, The Neman Family Irrevocable Trust, and Yedidia Investments Defined Benefit Plan Trust. (1 SCT-B: 37.) ² The general partner of the limited partnership is 416 S. Wall Street, Inc. (1 SCT-B: 36.) The non-Siry parties are referred to collectively as "defendants."

The partnership's main asset was a swap meet building occupied by small businesses, located in downtown Los Angeles. (9 CT-B: 2183.) The partnership generated rental income from commercial tenants on the first floor, and from the motel located on the top floor of the mixed-use property. (*Id.*)

- B. Siry Prevails Against Defendants, Initially Based on a Jury
 Trial and Ultimately Based on a Default Judgment.
 - 1. The original judgment is reversed on a technicality.

In 2007, Siry filed this lawsuit to recover damages based on defendants' misdeeds in handling the partnership. Following the

We refer to B260560 as "A" and B277750 as "B" based on their chronological/numerical order.

There are no references here to Appeal C (a one-volume CT filed in B279009 which was consolidated with B277750). There are also no references here to Appeal D (a 3-volume CT filed in B285904, the "offset appeal").

² Saeed Farkhondehpour is the trustee of The 1993 Farkhondehpour Family Trust while Morad Neman was the trustee of the other two trusts named above. (*Id.*)

first trial, the jury awarded Siry roughly \$3.5 million in compensatory and punitive damages. (2 CT-B: 346.) The operative judgment, which reduced the punitive awards following post-trial motions (2 CT-B: 351), was set aside on appeal on a pure technicality. (Typed opn. 5 [March 3, 2020 decision].)

Because the verdict form did not specify whether each individual defendant was liable in a personal or trustee capacity, the Court of Appeal remanded the case for a brand new trial. (*Id.*)

2. Post-remand proceedings leading to default judgment

Starting from scratch on remand in 2013, Siry sought statutory remedies of treble damages and attorneys' fees under Penal Code section 496, in addition to non-statutory claims. (1 CT-A: 69, ¶6.) Following eighteen months of discovery abuse by defendants, Siry filed the operative complaint, alleging the following: ³

▶ Defendants "created a new entity, DTLA, in order to improperly divert rental income away from the 241 Partnership and into DTLA. Defendants facilitated the creation of DTLA and other third-party entities and designed, implemented and/or executed a series of illicit financial transactions" to deprive Siry of its share of the partnership income. (15 SCT-B: 3727, ¶30.)

³ The parties were engaged in a prior lawsuit involving several partnerships, including the 241 Partnership. Those proceedings and certain pre- and post-remand proceedings (e.g., accounting, dissolution, discovery abuse) are not addressed here as they are not relevant to the issues presented here.

- ► "Defendants would occasionally deposit a portion of the rental income of the 241 partnership in the partnership's bank account while pocketing the difference in cash, thus treating the partnership funds as their personal funds...." (15 SCT-B: 3729, ¶41.)
- To avoid being caught, defendants recorded only a portion of the partnership's actual income on the books." (*Id.*, ¶42.) "Defendants also falsely allocated security guard expenses and other expenses of their own/other properties so as to artificially deprive Siry of its full amount of distributions." (15 SCT-B: 3730, ¶ 45.) Having incorporated these allegations in the cause of action under section 496 (15 SCT-B: 3735, ¶85), Siry also alleged the elements of this cause of action. (*Id.*, ¶¶ 86-89.)
 - 3. After entering a default judgment based on defendants' discovery abuse, the trial court reduces the damages awarded by nearly 60% in response to defendants' motion for new trial.

The trial court ultimately granted Siry's motion for terminating sanctions based on defendants' discovery abuse. (25 SCT-B: 6176.) After examining Siry's extensive evidentiary submissions, the court issued an eight-figure default judgment. (10 CT-B: 2309.) ⁴

⁴ Defendants interpreted the judgment to award \$20 million just in punitive damages, plus several additional million dollars in actual/treble damages and fees. (11 CT-B: 2464.) Siry interpreted the judgment to award a total of \$16 million. (Pet. for Rehearing

Despite being in default, defendants filed two post-judgment motions: a motion for new trial, challenging the judgment as excessive (10 CT-B: 2410; 11 CT-B: 2447) and a motion to vacate the judgment under Code of Civil Procedure section 583.320, the diligent-prosecution statute (10 CT-B: 2345). Defendants did not seek relief under section 473 to set aside the default or the default judgment.

After receiving opposition (11 CT-B: 2571) and reply papers (12 CT-B: 2726), and holdings two hearings (3 RT 6343-6400; 6601-6622), the trial court ruled on the new trial motion. Applying Don v. Cruz (1982) 131 Cal.App.3d 695, the court held defendants had standing to seek a new trial by arguing the damages were excessive as a matter of law under subsection 5 in section 657. (13 CT-B: 3009-3010.) The court further held "the judgment consisted of excessive damages as a matter of law under Code of Civil Procedure section 657, subsection (5)" in terms of three monetary awards. (13 CT-B: 3008; 2994.) Specifically, the court ruled it had used the wrong measure of damages in defining "treble" damages; i.e., 3:1 versus 2:1 ratio. (13 CT-B: 3011-3012.) The court also ruled it had applied the wrong measure of damages by awarding *both* treble and punitive damages. (13 CT-B: 3012-3016.) In addition, the court deemed the punitive damages as constitutionally excessive. (13 CT-B: 3018-3020.)

^{15-16.)} The components of this original judgment are itemized in the chart below.

Adopting the contrary line of authority that precludes defendants from attacking the judgment while remaining in default, the court held conversely that defendants had no standing to invoke the diligent-prosecution statute. (13 CT-B: 3000.) The court denied that motion procedurally and on the merits. (13 CT-B: 3000-3003].)

4. Based on Siry's election of remedies, the Court enters an amended judgment.

Following Siry's election of treble damages over punitive damages based on the court's order requiring an election (13 CT-B: 3036; 3012-3016), the court entered an amended judgment. The initial default judgment and the amended one are summarized below:

	original judgment (10 CT-B: 2309)	amended judgment (13 CT-B: 3104)
actual damages	\$534,118	same
pre-judgment interest (2003- 2016)	\$422,369	same
treble damages	\$2,869,461	\$1,912,974
attorneys' fees	\$4,010,008	same
costs	\$187,109	same
punitive damages	\$4,000,000 as to each of two sets of defendants	none

5. Both sides appeal.

Defendants appealed, arguing the terminating sanctions were excessive. (Neman-AOB 42-58; SF-AOB 26-53.) ⁵
Defendants also argued section 496 does not apply in this case. (Neman-AOB 76-77; Neman-ARB/X-RB 76-80; SF-AOB 58-66; SF-ARB/X-RB 33-36.) ⁶

Siry cross-appealed, challenging the post-judgment reduction of damages. (Siry-RB/X-AOB 156-160; X-ARB 12-27.) Siry focused its arguments on procedural defects infecting the order granting a new trial.

⁵ Listed in chronological order here, "Neman-AOB" refers to the opening brief filed by the Neman parties; i.e., Morad Neman individually and as a trustee of his two trusts as identified above. "SF-AOB" refers to the opening brief filed by (1) Saeed

Farkhondehpour, individually and as a trustee of his trust listed above and (2) the general partner, 416 S. Wall Street, Inc.

[&]quot;Siry-RB/X-AOB" refers to the combined brief initially filed by Siry. "ARB/X-RB" refers to the subsequent, combined brief filed by each set of defendants. "X-ARB" refers to the final, reply brief filed in support of Siry's cross-appeal.

⁶ Defendants pursued other arguments on appeal that are not relevant to this petition. Similarly, the parties had pursued various appeals since the inception of this lawsuit that are not relevant here. Accordingly, we do not address them.

6. The Court of Appeal affirms the judgment as to liability issues while eliminating Siry's \$4 million attorneys' fee award and \$2 million statutory treble damages.

a. Disposition of defendants' appeal

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeal rejected the various arguments presented by defendants as to liability issues. (Typed opn. 14-32.) The Opinion, authored by Justice Hoffstadt, extensively reviewed defendants' "fulsome history of discovery abuse." (Typed opn. 17.) Condemning defendants' strategy "to bury Siry and the court with 'document dump[s]," the Opinion confirmed defendants' "conduct was both willful and, worse yet, calculated." (*Id.*)

As to the amount of recovery, the Opinion cut the amended judgment by more than half (reducing it to roughly \$3M). First, in deciding defendants' appeal, the court held that section 496 does not apply in this case, thereby eliminating the \$4M attorneys' fee award and the \$2M statutory treble damages—a \$6M haircut. (Typed opn. 40-47.) Given "the unavailability of treble damages under Penal Code section 496, Siry's election to receive treble damages over punitive damages is a nullity; in its place, Siry is entitled to receive the \$1 million in punitive damages assessed against each Farkhondehpour and Neman," the Opinion held. (Typed opn. 47.)

The Opinion thus reinstates the \$2M punitive damages award reflected in the amended judgment in lieu of the \$2M statutory treble damages. (Typed opn. 47, 56.) Finally, the court eliminated the same fee award under another fee-shifting provision; i.e., Code Civ. Proc., § 1029.8. (Typed opn. 47-55.) ⁷

b. Disposition of Siry's cross-appeal

Rejecting Siry's cross-appeal which sought to reinstate the original judgment, the Opinion holds defendants had standing to seek a new trial while they remained in default. (Typed opn. 33-38.) The Court of Appeal adopted Siry's position (RB/X-AOB 159-160; X-ARB 12-27) that the trial court had erroneously used an inapplicable ground in the new-trial-motion statute to reduce the original judgment—a \$9 million error. (Typed opn., pp. 38-39, fn. 10.) Nonetheless, the Court of Appeal held this error could be fixed on appeal. (*Ibid.*)

Although defendants' appellate briefs invoked two particular grounds in the new-trial-motion statute to salvage the order on that motion (Neman ARB/X-RB 90-91; SF ARB/X-RB 46), the Court of Appeal used an *entirely different* ground that was not invoked on appeal to save the admittedly-defective order. (Typed opn., pp. 38-39, fn. 10.) Although this substitute ground

⁷ This statute allows fee shifting where the defendant engages in unlicensed activities. While the court held defendants' sale of the partnership interest did not involve the sale of "securities" – thus eliminating the application of this statute – Siry is not challenging this ruling.

(referred to as ground 7) requires an "[e]rror in law, occurring at the trial and excepted to by the party making the application" (Code Civ. Proc., § 657, subd. (7)), the Court of Appeal held defendants had properly invoked this ground in the *trial* court by abridging/revising it as "error in law" – while eliminating the italicized legal requirements. (Typed opn., pp. 34, 38-39, fn. 10; 10 CT-B: 2411, ¶6.) 8

7. Siry's rehearing petition is denied.

Siry filed a rehearing petition, pointing out additional statutory provisions for fee-shifting omitted from the opinion. (Pet. for Rehearing, pp. 7-15.) Siry also explained the new trial order could not be salvaged based on ground 7 because defendants failed to properly invoke this particular ground in the trial and appellate courts. (*Id.* at pp. 16-17.)

Denying the rehearing petition, the Court of Appeal modified the opinion by eliminating the alternative grounds for fee shifting advanced by Siry. (PFR, Ex. 2, pp. 2-3.) The court did not address the critical defect discussed in the rehearing petition as to the new trial order. (Pet. for Rehearing, p. 16, fn. 5.) The

⁸ Defendants invoked on appeal only ground 5 (excessive damages) and ground 6 as italicized here ("[i]nsufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict or other decision, or *the verdict or other decision is against law*") under section 657. (Neman-ARB/X-RB 92-93; SF-ARB/X-RB 46-48.) It is undisputed the trial court invoked ground 5 as the sole and exclusive ground for reducing the damages under section 657. (13 CT-B: 3006.)

court also declined to quantify the total amount of the original judgment, as it was superseded by the amended judgment. (PFR, Ex. 2, p. 4.)

Defendants did not seek rehearing.9

8. This Court grants review.

In response to Siry's petition for review challenging the Court of Appeal's interpretation of section 496 and its view on defendants' standing to seek a new trial while in default, this Court granted review. No answer or other petitions for review were filed by the other side.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. Once the Crime of Theft of Partnership Funds Is Established, the Civil Remedies in Penal Code Section 496 Are Triggered.

While the Court of Appeal agreed with Siry that Siry had "properly alleged a violation of Penal Code section 496 in its operative complaint" (typed opn. 47), the Court of Appeal refused to apply this statute as inapplicable. (*Ibid.*) We nonetheless

26

⁹ Although Neman argued section 496 does not apply to partnership disputes, he has sued co-defendant Farkhondehpour for violating section 496 based on literally the same allegations Siry raised against both Neman and Farkhondehpour. (Siry-RB/XAOB 139-140.)

summarize the pertinent allegations, before explaining the application of this statute, to provide context for challenging the notion that section 496 does not apply to the theft of partnership funds.

A. The factual allegations deemed true by entry of default

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