No. S262081

### IN THE

# **Supreme Court** of the State of California

SIRY INVESTMENT, L.P.

Plaintiff/Petitioner

VS.

SAEED FARKHONDEHPOUR, et al.

On Appeal from Judgment/Orders of the Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC372362, Hon. Stephanie M. Bowick and Hon. Mark A. Borenstein After Published Decision by Court of Appeal, Second District, Division Two, No. B277750 Cons. w/ B279009 and B285904

### **ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Richard L. Knickerbocker, Esq. SB#035646 **Knickerbocker Law Firm** 

2425 Olympic Boulevard, Suite 4000W Santa Monica, California 90404 Telephone: 310-260-9060 Facsimile: 310-260-9063

E-mail: knicklaw@gmail.com

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

"Fourth, Siry cites cases holding that a defaulting defendant may not file a motion for new trial under any circumstances. (E.g., *Devlin*, supra, 155 Cal.App.3d at pp. 385-386; *Brooks v. Nelson* (1928) 95 Cal.App. 144, 147-148 [272 P. 610].) We respectfully part ways with these decisions, which did not consider the rationale we adopt-namely, that there is no reason to deprive the trial court of the power to consider challenges to the excessiveness or legal propriety of damages when those very same issues can undoubtedly be raised on appeal.

"In this case, defendants' challenges to the damages awarded in the original default judgment all constitute "error[s] in law" properly subject to a motion for a new trial. The court's recalculation of treble damages reduced what was effectively quadrupled damages down to treble damages; the court's reduction of the punitive damages award was grounded in the constitutional law defining when such damages become so excessive as a matter of law as to deny a defendant due process; and the court's ruling that Siry must elect between treble and punitive damages involved construction of the law. (Cf. *Seffert v. Los Angeles Transit Lines* (1961) 56 Cal.2d 498, 507 [15 Cal.Rptr. 161, 364 P.2d 337] [only trial court may sit as a "thirteenth juror" in evaluating the amount of damages].)[11]" (Typed opn. 35-38.)

## a. *Don v. Cruz* And Abundant Other Authorities Are Directly On Point.

The lower courts in this case correctly recognized a trial court's authority per *Don v. Cruz* to grant a new trial or remittitur. A default is not a license for a prevailing party to overreach on damages. "[A] trial court has authority to grant a new trial after a default judgment on the ground that damages are excessive as a matter of law ...." (*Don v. Cruz* (1982) 131 Cal.App.3d 695, 706 (Don v. Cruz(.) There is "no reason to preclude a defaulting party from seeking a new trial (or, more precisely, a new judgment hearing) on the ground that damages are excessive as a matter of law when the

same contention may be urged on direct appeal from the default judgment." (*Id.*, at p. 704.) "It would be anomalous to hold that the trial court has the power to grant a new trial where a fairly contested trial has resulted in an award which is excessive as a matter of law but may not do so where the excessive award results from an ex parte proceeding." (*Id.* at pp. 704-705.)

Don v. Cruz's on-point holding comports with the fact that new trial motions are "`in the nature of a new and independent proceeding collateral to the judgment in the action." (Estate of Simmons (1914) 168 Cal. 390, 396 (Simmons); accord, Neff v. Ernst (1957) 48 Cal.2d 628, 634 (Neff).) Although defaulted defendants cannot participate in the default proceedings leading up to the default judgment, they can participate in collateral proceedings, such as new trial motions and appeals.

The primary authority supporting *Don v. Cruz* is *Carney v. Simmonds* (1957) 49 Cal.2d 84 (Carney). In *Carney*, after a lengthy discussion and analysis of existing case law, the Supreme Court concluded "that a motion for a new trial is proper procedure in any of the classes of judgments mentioned in the first group of cases above cited [including default judgments] whether the judgment is based on law or fact or both, except possibly in the case of default judgments or judgments by agreement or confession where there may be the question of the right of the moving party to make any objection to the

judgment." (*Id.*, at p. 90.) This holding was subsequently clarified in *Jacuzzi* v. *Jacuzzi Bros.*, *Inc.* (1966) 243 Cal.App.2d 1, 22 (Jacuzzi): "[I]n the case of a default judgment, where the right of the moving party to make an objection to the judgment has not been forfeited, bargained away, or otherwise lost, he may use a motion for new trial to secure a reexamination of such questions of law, fact, or law and fact as were involved in the proceedings which culminated in the order for the entry of his default and the ensuing judgment."

## b. Published State Court Opinions That Followed *Don* v. Cruz Are In Accord.

Not surprisingly, the holding in *Don v. Cruz*, that a defaulted party may move for a new trial, has been repeatedly cited as correct. *Scognamillo v. Herrick* (1996) 106 Cal.App.4th 1139, 1150; *In re Marriage of Dunmore* (1996) 45 Cal.App.4th 1372, 1377; *Misic v. Segars* (1995) 37 Cal App.4th1149, 1154 (Misic) ["'Although in default, defendant[s] can attack the default judgment in the trial court by motion for new trial on the ground of 'excessive or inadequate' damages or 'because the verdict or decision is against the law[.]""; accord, *Ostling v. Loring* (1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 1731, 1746; *Jacuzzi.* 243 Cal.App.2d at 22 ["in the case of a default judgment, . [a defendant] may use a motion for new trial to secure a reexamination of such questions of law, fact, or law and fact as were involved in the proceedings which culminated in the order for the entry of his default and the ensuing

judgment"].

## c. Unpublished State Court Opinions That Followed *Don v. Cruz* Are Also In Accord.

Don v. Cruz was cited and followed in each of the following California unpublished opinions: Bagby v. Davis, 2020 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 526, at \*11; Stutz Artiano Shinoff & Holtz, APC v. Larkins, 2014 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 4276, 2014 WL 2765732 at \*26; Mertens Heavy Equip. Repair v. Mts. by the Sea, Inc., 2012 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 6503, 2012 WL 3835816 at \*19; Semendinger v. Cal. Dep't of Corr. & Rehab., 2012 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 814, 2012 WL 274482 at \*8; Erdman v. Dromy Int'l Inv. Corp., 2009 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 8641 at \*35; Rose v. Urdanivia, 2006 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 1752 \*22; Ostling v. Loring, 27 Cal. App. 4th 1731, 33 Cal. Rptr. 2d 391, 1994 Cal. App. LEXIS 912, 94 Cal. Daily Op. Service 6931, 94 D.A.R. 12661 at \*1746; and Cantrell v. Chatoian, 228 Cal. Rptr. 718 \*10-11 [review granted, depublished by Cantrell v. Chatoian, 231 Cal.Rptr. 212, 726 P.2d 1287, 1986 Cal. LEXIS 258].

## d. Respected Treatises Uniformly Agree With *Don v. Cruz.*

Respected California Treatises uniformly acknowledge a defaulted defendant's standing and right to move for a new trial to challenge excessive or inadequate damages. (See, e.g., 8 *Witkin*, Cal. Procedure (5th ed. 2008)

Attack on Judgment in Trial Court, § 144, p. 737 ["[r]elief for judicial error respecting default judgments may be obtained in the same manner as with respect to judgments after a contested trial, e.g., by motion for new trial for excessive or inadequate damages," italics added]; Wegner et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Judgments Entered Without Trial (The Rutter Group 2020) ¶ 18:126, p. 18-31 [new trial motion available to attack default judgment "where the ground for the motion is 'excessive or inadequate' damages or 'because the verdict or decision is against the law," citations omitted]; Cal. Judges Benchbook: Civil Proceedings After Trial (CJER 2018) Motions Attacking Verdict or Judgment After Trial, § 2.3, p. 103 [new trial motion may be brought to contest "default judgment that awards damages that are excessive as a matter of law"]; Thomas, Cal. Civil Courtroom Handbook & Desktop Reference (2019 ed.) Default and Relief From Default, § 19:39, pp. 644-645 [same]; Weil & Brown, Cal. Practice Guide: Civil Procedure Before Trial (The Rutter Group 2020) ¶ 5:477 [§ 657, subds. (5) and (6) authorize a defendant in default to "attack the default judgment in the trial court by motion for new trial on the ground of 'excessive or inadequate' damages or because 'the verdict or other decision is against law").

### e. No Authority Supports Siry's Position.

Title Ins. & Trust Co. v. King Land Improv. Co. (1912) 162 Cal. 44.

Relying on dicta in the century-old Title Ins. Supreme Court decision, Siry claims that a defaulted defendant may not move for a new trial. In *Title Ins.*, no issue was raised as to moving for a new trial. The issue rather was the timeliness of a CCP section 473 motion. More important, Siry ignores *later* Supreme Court precedent holding that a new trial motion is a collateral attack on the judgment: "The motion for new trial is 'in the nature of a new and independent proceeding collateral to the judgment in the action." (Simmons, 168 Cal. at 396; accord Neff, 48 Cal.2d at 634 ["A motion for new trial is recognized to be a matter collateral to the judgment" for that reason "the trial court retains jurisdiction to hear and determine a motion for new trial after an appeal has been taken from the judgment."]; Carney, 49 Cal.2d 84 [after a lengthy discussion and analysis of existing case law, the Court concluded "that a motion for a new trial is proper procedure in any of the classes of judgments mentioned in the first group of cases above cited [including default judgments"].) Even a defendant in default has standing to collaterally attack a judgment. (E.g., Becker v. S.P.V. Construction Co. (1980) 27 Cal.3d 489, 493 [setting aside judgment on collateral attack].)

Howard Greer Custom Originals v. Capritti (1950) 35 Cal.2d 886, 888-889. Howard Greer does not hold that trial courts lack new-trial-motion power to find a default-judgment damages award excessive as a matter of law.

Howard Greer never addressed that issue. It did not address a new trial on damages at all. It held that a court could not order a new trial on liability where the default remained intact. More important, seven years after Howard Greer was decided, the Court in Carney eliminated any doubt as to a defaulting defendant's standing to move for a new trial (holding it does, contrary to defendants' interpretation of the Carney holding as explained hereinbelow).

Carney v. Simmons, supra. As stated above, Carney supports defendants' position, not Siry's, on the issue of standing. In fact, Carney is the primary authority sporing Don v. Cruz, supra, holding that use of the new trial motion after a default judgment is not precluded by the absence of a trial in the traditional sense, but it may be precluded if the ground of the motion is one which a defaulting party is not permitted to assert. (Id. at 20-22)

Even cases reciting the *Howard Greer* language that Siry emphasizes (*Devlin v. Kearny Mesa AMC/Jeep/Renault, Inc.* (1984) 155 Cal.App.3d 381, 384, 386) recognize that appellate courts must reverse default judgments where "the damages are determined to be excessive as a matter of law." And, *Devlin's*, a pre-*Don v. Cruz* case, contrary "dictum 'is unsupported by any recent authority, and is believed to be incorrect.' [Citation.]" (*Misic*, 37 Cal.App.4th at 1154.)

# 2. Siry's Cross-Appeal Did Not Challenge The Trial Court's Damage Recalculation Or Reduction Of Damages. Those Deductions And Reductions, Thus, Cannot Be Disregarded.

In its cross-appeal, Siry did not contest the substantive merits of the trial court's excessive-as-a-matter-of-law damages evaluation. Therefore, any review of the original judgment would require vacating the legally-erroneous, excessive damages and reinstating the trial court's damages reductions based on those unrefuted, conceded errors. (See, e.g., *Eisenberg, Cal. Practice Guide*: Civil Appeals and Writs, supra, ¶ 11:73, p. 11-27 ["If the record indicates what the proper judgment or order should have been, the appellate court can reverse with directions to enter that judgment or order"].)

The Court of Appeal specifically held:

"Defendants do not challenge the trial court's calculation of actual damages, and Siry does not challenge the court's requirement that Siry elect between treble and punitive damages, the reduction in the punitive damages award, or the offset for costs defendants incurred during the prior appeal. And although Siry suggests that the trial court's calculation of treble damages was incorrect, we decline to entertain that suggestion because Siry waited until its reply brief to raise it. (*Garcia*, supra, 16 Cal.4th at p. 482, fn. 10.)" (Typed opn. 33 fn. 9.)

Siry's cross-appeal was little ado (a half-hearted, four-page argument) about nothing. More important, it did not contest that the trial court's damage reductions were substantively correct. Those reductions, thus, cannot be disregarded.

# 3. Review Should Be Limited To The Two Issues Presented In Siry's Petition For Review and For Which This Court Has Granted Review.

Where, as here, the Court did not issue an order specifying the issues to be briefed, and Respondents did not file an answer to the petition for review, briefs on the merits must be limited to issues stated in the petition for review and any issues fairly included in them. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.520(b)(3).)<sup>8</sup>

Although many issues were raised in the Court of Appeal, Siry's cross-appeal was limited to the lone argument that a defaulting defendant has no standing to move for a new trial. (Siry-RB/X-AOB 156-160)<sup>9</sup> The Court of Appeal commented: "Siry does not challenge" the post-judgment reductions (typed opn. 33, fn. 9) or that "the amendments [to the judgment] were incorrect." (Typed opn. 33.) Siry acknowledges its failure to raise the issue in the Court of Appeal: "We acknowledge that we did not challenge the substantive merits of all reductions; we focused on procedural challenges

<sup>8</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>quot;Unless the court orders otherwise, briefs on the merits must be limited to the issues stated" in the "statement of issues in the petition for review" unless the Court has issued "an order specifying the issues to be briefed." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.520(b); see *Jimenez v. Superior Court* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 473, 481 ["We do not consider this argument because defendants did not raise it in the trial court, in the Court of Appeal, or in their petitions for review."].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This, Siry acknowledges in its OBM at p. 21.

because, if successful, procedural challenges would necessarily eliminate the need for substantive challenges." (PFR, p. 18.) Siry may not now, in this Court, bring up issues it failed to raise in the Court of Appeal. Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500, subd. e.

Likewise, although the only issue affecting the new trial order that is now before the Court is the issue of standing, Siry has raised a laundry list of additional issues that are beyond the scope of the review requested. These additional issues exceed the scope of the review granted, were not raised in the trial court, and or were not raised in the Court of Appeal (or, if raised in the Court of Appeal, they were belatedly raised for the first time in Siry's petition for rehearing and Siry has abandoned them by not presenting them in its petition for review). More importantly, the additional issues raised in the opening brief on the merits have no bearing on the Court's review of the two straightforward issues presented.

a. Siry's Surplusage Offending Arguments Allege Errors That Have No Bearing On The Issues For Which Review Was Granted.

The Supreme Court is generally not concerned with whether the trial court or the Court of Appeal decided the case correctly. Its institutional role is not to correct lower-court errors; it is to ensure clarity and consistency in the law and address substantial public policy or institutional importance. "The

most important goal of the higher appellate courts is not simply to ensure that litigants in the particular case received a fair, error-free trial, but to develop a clear, consistent, coherent body of law that can be followed and applied by the lower courts." *Dick v. New York Life Ins. Co.* (1959) 359 U.S. 437, 452 (Frankfurter, J., dissenting) ["No litigant is entitled to more than two chances, namely, to the original trial and to a review, and the intermediate courts of review are provided for that purpose. When a case goes beyond that, it is not primarily to preserve the rights of the litigants. The Supreme Court's function is for the purpose of expounding and stabilizing principles of law for the benefit of the people []. Passing upon constitutional questions and other important questions of law for the public benefit. It is to preserve uniformity of decision among the intermediate courts of appeal."].

Accordingly, if the basis for Siry's petition is that the trial or appellate court got it wrong on certain issues other than the two issues before the Court, review should not be granted.

## b. Siry's Other Surplusage Issues Are Deemed Abandoned And Or Forfeited In This Court.

As stated above, Siry's lone argument in its 4-page opening brief on the cross-appeal was that the trial court had no power to entertain defendants' motion for a new trial because of their default status. (Siry-RB/X-AOB 156-160.) And, the Court of Appeal deemed all other issues affected by the new

trial order waived as Siry had failed to timely present them in its cross-appeal. (Typed opn. fns. 5 & 9.)

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